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I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves a long-running dispute between Monsanto Company

("Monsanto") and its former employees at its plant in Sand Mountain, Alabama

that closed in 1981 over fifteen years before Solutia Inc. ("Solutia") came into

existence.. Beginning with the Gilley v. Monsanto case filed in 2004, and

continuing through the Second Amended Complaint in the instant case, several

former Monsanto employees have filed class-wide claims alleging entitlement to

pension benefits under the Monsanto Company Salaried Employees' Pension Plan

(the "Monsanto Plan") arising from their employment with Monsanto 25 years ago ..

Recently, the plaintiffs in this case were granted leave to add Solutia (which was

spun-off from Monsanto and formed in 1997) and Solutia Inc .. Employees' Plan,]

following Solutia's emergence from bankruptcy. (Doc .. 48). As demonstrated

herein, the allegations specific to the Solutia Defendants provide absolutely no

basis for any claims as against the Solutia Defendants.. In fact, the operative

allegations are to the contrary.

According to the Second Amended Complaint, only Monsanto operated the

Sand Mountain Plant (from 1972 to 1981) and all the plaintiffs were employees of

Monsanto. (Second Amended Complaint "SAC," ~~ 9, 20, 23-27). Thus, there

was never an employment relationship between Solutia and the plaintiffs during

1 There is no such entity in existence
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their employment at Sand Mountain. The plaintiffs further allege that Monsanto

maintained a pension plan (SAC ~ 29), that Monsanto amended the plan from time

to time (SAC ~~ 34, 68-69), and that plaintiffs were "vested" in the Monsanto plan

based on "service" through part of 1982 (SAC ~ 72). Further, to the extent any

plaintiff sought pension benefits through the administrative process, any such

"claim" was made only to Monsanto's Benefits Plans Committee (SAC ~~ 80, 82

92,106-l15).

By contrast, and as relates to the Solutia Defendants, plaintiffs do not allege

an employment relationship with Solutia, do not allege any Solutia plan terms, do

not allege any involvement in the administrative review process under any Solutia

plan, do not allege any administrative acts (i.e. plan amendments) by Solutia and

do not allege how Solutia, created 15 years after Sand Mountain closed, could be

liable for pension benefits that plaintiffs claim "vested" in 1982 through their

employment with Monsanto ..

In summary, there are no factual allegations showing that plaintiffs are

entitled to any relief against the Solutia Defendants, particularly in light of the new

pleading requirements explained in Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S .. -- , 127

S.. Ct 1955, 1974 (2007) ("retiring" the standard from Conley v. Gibson and

requiring factual, and not conclusory, allegations to survive a motion to dismiss).

Because plaintiffS have failed to make such factual allegations establishing a

2
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cognizable claim against the Solutia Defendants, the Second Amended Complaint

must be dismissed as against them.

Moreover, even assuming cognizable claims against the Solutia Defendants

are properly alleged, all of which stem from the purported denial of pension

benefits by Monsanto, each claim must fail for a myriad of reasons, including the

plaintiffS' failure to meet the Monsanto Plan's criteria for vesting. Under the terms

of the Monsanto Plan, the applicable provisions of ERISA and controlling circuit

law (including the recent Eleventh Circuit order in Gilley v. Monsanto Co., Inc.,

490 F.Jd 848 (lIth Cir 2007)), plaintiffs fail to state a claim upon which relief

may be granted, and the action should be dismissed..

II. BACKGROUND

This case was originally filed against the Monsanto Defendants on August 9,

2006. As mentioned, the Court recently granted leave for Plaintiff to add the

Solutia Defendants (Doc.. 50). The relevant background facts, taken from

Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint and summarized in the Monsanto

Defendants' Memorandum in Support of Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Second

Amended Complaint (Doc .. 83), are adopted by the Solutia Defendants solely for

purposes ofthis motion..

Plaintiffs were former employees of Monsanto from August 1972 through

FeblUary 16, 1982 at its Sand Mountain textile plant in Northeast Alabama.. The

3
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plant closed in March 1981, but the plaintiffs remained on layoff status until

February 1982, when they were finally let go, The gist oftheir claims is that they

acquired the necessary ten years of "Vested Service" to merit pension benefits

under the Monsanto Plan" To reach their desired result, plaintiffs plead a number

of theories under ERISA, and allege that an amendment contained in the 1981

Monsanto Plan changing the way hours of service were determined for purposes of

calculating years of "Vested Service" was invalid under ERISA and should not be

applied in determining their entitlement to pension benefits,?

The Second Amended Complaint contains no factual allegations as to how

the Solutia Defendants could be liable for plaintiffs' claims" Indeed, with respect

to the Solutia Defendants, plaintiffs allege only the following:

8, On or about September 1, 1997, Monsanto entered into a
distribution agreement with Solutia Inc, a Delaware
Corporation, wherein Monsanto spun off certain [unspecified]
assets of its chemical business"

2 The Second Amended Complaint contains six counts Count One alleges that Plaintiffs
were wrongly denied benefits under ERISA §§ 502(a)(I)(B) and 502(a)(3), 29 U,S,C
§§ 1132(a)(I)(B) and 1132(a)(3), Count Two alleges interference with Plaintiffs' ERISA rights
by: (I) discriminating against lower-paid participants in favor of highly compensated participants
by amending the plan to exclude overtime from vesting calculations and (2) closing the Sand
Mountain plant Count Three alleges various improper acts that supposedly violate the fiduciary
duties contained in ERISA § 404, 29 USC. § 1104, Count Four alleges that Defendants reduced
benefits in violation of ERISA § 204(g), 29 US C. § 1054(g), by adopting the rule in the 1981
Monsanto Plan for the calculation of hours of service under the Plan Count Five alleges that
Defendants ar'e estopped from denying pension benefits based on the Plan's terms Count Six is
not an independent cause of action but seeks merely to certify a class based on Counts One, Two,
Three and Four; if Counts One through Four are dismissed, Count Six must follow,

4
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9. The now defunct Sand Mountain plaint where Plaintiffs worked
from 1972 to 1981 when they were placed on 'layof!' is a
fCHmer business operated by Monsanto as part of its chemical
group ..

10.. Monsanto also operated a plant in Decatur, Alabama as part of
its chemical group, which is now a Solutia Inc. "Solutia" plant

11.. Solutia's employee identification number is 43-1781797.

***
102.. When the Sand Mountain plant closed all records and

documents including but not limited to punch cards, pay
records, overtime records, personnel files, notices, SPDs, plan
documents, and operational documents were sent to the plant in
Decatur, Alabama, now a Solutia Inc.. plant

104 As a result of the spin-off of Solutia Inc. some, but not all,
former employees of the now defunct Sand Mountain plant and
participants ofthe Monsanto Salaried Employees' Pension Plan
are now participants of the Solutia Inc .. Employees' Pension
Plan..

The foregoing allegations are the only allegations specifically mentioning

the Solutia Defendants.. Otherwise, plaintiffS sometimes group the Solutia

Defendants within their general references to "Defendants.." Although plaintiffs

also allege that they "are participants in the Monsanto Salaried Employees'

Pension Plan and/or the Solutia Inc .. Employees' Pension Plan" (SAC, ~ 124),

plaintif!s do not identify any specific plaintiff who is or ever has been a participant

in a Solutia pension plan.. Moreover, there are no allegations as to how plaintiffs

could ever qualify for retirement benefits under any pension plan maintained by

5
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the Solutia Defendants (indeed, there is no Solutia pension plan even identified in

the Second Amended Complaint).

III. ARGUMENT

A. Motion To Dismiss Standard.

Just over a year ago, the Supreme Comt determined that Conley v. Gibson's,

355 U.S. 41 (1957), "no set of facts" language had run its course. See Duke v.

Houston County, 2008 U.S. Dist LEXIS 25704 at *11 n .. 6 (MD.. Ala.. Mar.. 31,

2008) (Twombly repudiates Conley). The Supreme Comt held that, in order to

smvive a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the plaintiff must allege

facts to state a claim for relief Twombly, 127 S.. Ct at 1964-65 .. As the Supreme

Comt observed, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) requires a "showing" that

the plaintiff is entitled to relief; "rather than a blanket assertion" of entitlement to

relief Id., at 1965 n. 3.. Thus, "a plaintiff's obligation to provide the 'grounds' of

his 'entitle[ment] to relief' requires more than labels and conclusions, and a

formulaic recitation ofthe elements of a cause of action will not do .." Id., at 1964

65; see also Ghee v. Retailers Nat'l Bank, 2008 us. App. LEXIS 6858 at *6 (11 th

Cir Mar.. 27, 2008) (same; quoting Twombly). Stated differently, "[f]actual

allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative leveL"

Twombly, 127 S.. Ct at 1965. Fmther, "[f]acts that are merely consistent with the

plaintiff's legal theory will not suffice when, without some further factual

6
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enhancement they stop short of the line between possibility and plausibility of

entitlement to relief" New Hampshire Ins. Co. v. Blue Water Off Shore, LLC,

2008 US .. Dist LEXIS 20410 at *3 (S.D.. Ala.. Mar.. 7, 2008) (quoting Weissman v.

Nat'l Assoc. of Securities Dealers, Inc., 500 FJd 1293, 1310 (llth Cir.. 2007».

Importantly, in Twombly, the Supreme Court noted that the requirement for

specificity in pleading was even more pronounced in litigation that imposed

substantial costs of litigation (such as the instant putative class action). Twombly,

127 S. Ct at 1967 (the "district court must retain the power to insist upon some

specificity in pleading before allowing a potentially massive factual controversy to

proceed")

Here, plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint falls far short ofthe Twombly

standard, particularly when viewed as a potential class action as alleged against the

Solutia Defendants, and is the conclusory sort of pleading that the Supreme Court

has announced must be rejected.

B. PlaintifIs Fail To Plead The Necessary Facts Showing They Are
Entitled To Relief Against The Solutia Defendants.

Although plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint contains a few allegations

(quoted above) mentioning the Solutia Defendants, plaintiffs do not allege any

facts whatsoever to support any liability on behalf of the Solutia Defendants. For

instance, the Second Amended Complaint contains no allegations about what terms

of an unidentified "Solutia Inc. Employees' Plan" were supposedly violated so as

'7



Case 4:06-cv-01564-CLS     Document 94      Filed 06/05/2008     Page 11 of 28

to form the basis of an ERISA claim Further, even assuming arguendo that

plaintiffs' claims could be read to be based on an assumption of liabilities of the

Monsanto Plan by the Solutia Defendants (which is not specifically pleaded), the

Second Amended Complaint is devoid of any allegation as to how Solutia could be

contractually liable to the plaintiffs.. See Second Amended Complaint, passim

Rather than alleging any such facts, plaintiffs merely claim a supposed class-wide

entitlement to relief under the Monsanto Plan (without citing to any Solutia plan

provision), thus leaving all to speculate how they individually, let alone as a class

of former Monsanto employees, are supposedly entitled to relief from Solutia

Plaintiffs have made no "showing" that they are entitled to relief from the Solutia

Defendants and, under Twombly, blanket assertions of harm (including plaintiff's

catch-all references to "Defendants") are insufficient Plaintiffs' Second Amended

Complaint would need to be dismissed even if this was not a proposed class action.

As explained in Twombly, the potential scope of this action uniquely mandates the

inclusion of specific factual allegations about plaintiffs' individual claims against

the Solutia Defendants and the basis for the supposed class allegations ..

Here, as in Twombly, the potential expense of proceeding with this action is

clear: Plaintiffs seek to represent a "numerous" class of all participants and

beneficiaries of plans relating to events that allegedly occurred over twenty years

ago, and before Solutia even existed.. Under Twombly, plaintiffs are required to

8
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"show" an entitlement to relief before being allowed to undertake a sprawling,

costly and time-consuming discovery effort against the Solutia Defendants wholly

based on speculation. Such a showing in the instant case unquestionably includes,

but is not limited to, factual allegations regarding the terms of a Solutia pension

plan supposedly violated, how plaintiffs, who claim to have vested pensions under

the Monsanto Plan, could qualify as participants under any Solutia plan, and, if

liability of the Solutia Defendants is premised on some assumption of liabilities

under the Monsanto Plan, facts relating to that assumption, including what was

assumed and when such assumption purportedly occurred.. Without these basic

allegations, plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint fails to state a claim against the

Solutia Defendants and should be dismissed as a matter oflaw..

C. All Claims By Plaintiffs Against The Solutia Defendants Should Be
Dismissed For Failure To Exhaust Administrative Remedies.

Even if the Second Amended Complaint could be read to contain cognizable

claims under Twombly against the Solutia Defendants, the Second Amended

Complaint as against the Solutia Defendants should be dismissed due to plaintiffs'

failure to exhaust their administrative remedies. ERISA requires that benefits

plans provide procedures for making claims and for appealing initial benefits

decisions.. 29 USC § 1131. Failure to properly allege exhaustion of these

administr·ative remedies requires dismissal under Eleventh Circuit law. !h&,

Bickley v. Caremark Rx, Inc., 461 F..3d 1325, 1328 (lIth Cir.. 2006); Bvrd v.

9
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MacPapers, Inc., 961 F.2d 157, 160-61 (lIth Cir 1992) (affinning district COUlt's

dismissal of ERISA complaint for failure to allege exhaustion of administrative

remedies). This exhaustion requirement is "strictly enforced" PelTino v. Southern

Bell Tel. & Tel. Co., 209 FJd 1309, 1315-16 (lIth Cir.. 2000).

Plaintiffs fail to allege they exhausted their administrative remedies as to the

Solutia Defendants.. Plaintiffs do not allege a Solutia pension plan in which they

participated, and do not allege that any plaintiff made a claim to the Solutia

Defendants for benefits.. FUlther, none of the plaintiffs allege that he appealed any

alleged benefit decisions to Solutia or a Solutia pension plan pursuant to the

applicable Solutia procedures. Plaintiffs have not made benefits claims against the

Solutia Defendants, much less taken any steps to appeal any benefits decisions

through Solutia, and, therefore, have not exhausted their administrative remedies

under ERISA with respect to any claims against the Solutia Defendants

Moreover, even if plaintiffs could somehow establish exhaustion of

remedies with respect to the Solutia Defendants by appealing to Monsanto, their

claims fail as a matter of law. As convincingly demonstrated in Monsanto's

Dismissal Memorandum (Doc .. 83, pp. 10-13), which argument Solutia adopts

herein by reference, plaintiffs Sims, Collins, Works, Campbell, Newman, and

Blackwell failed to exhaust their administrative remedies with any defendant, and

exhaustion should not be excused based on futility.. Indeed, plaintiffs Sims,

10
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Works, Campbell, Newman, and Blackwell each filed suit before even making a

claim for benefits .. While Heptinstall made a claim for benefits and appealed it to

the Monsanto Benefits Committee, he failed to raise the ERISA § 510

discrimination claim that forms the basis of Count Two, or the estoppel claim

asserted in Count Five (see SAC ~~ 77-92; Apdx B to Doc .. 83). More

importantly, and as relates specifically to the claims against the Solutia

Defendants, plaintiffs have not even identified an applicable Solutia pension plan

much less alleged the exhaustion of the administrative remedies with Solutia

Because they have failed to exhaust their administrative remedies specifically with

the Solutia Defendants, all claims of all Plaintiffs, including Heptinstall's, should

be dismissed as against the Solutia Defendants (regardless of whether they were

exhausted with Monsanto). See Perrino, 209 F..3d at 1315 (finding plaintiffs failed

to exhaust claims that they were improperly denied benefits and that administrator

violated its fiduciary duties); Counts v. American Gen. Life & Accident Ins. Co.,

111 FJd 105, 109 (lIth Cir.. 1997) (requiring exhaustion of § 510 claim); Silva v.

Fortis Benefits Ins. Co., 437 F. Supp. 2d 819, 830 ll. 14 (N.D.. IlL 2006) ("courts

have held that the exhaustion requirement applies to estoppel claims") ..

Because they have failed to exhaust their administrative remedies, all claims

of all plaintiffs, including Heptinstall's, should be dismissed as against the Solutia

Defendants

11
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D. Count One Is Legally Deficient For Many Reasons.

Count One relies altemately on ERISA §§ 502(a)(l)(B) or 502(a)(3), but

neither ERISA section provides a sustainable claim against the Solutia Defendants

under plaintiffs' allegations, As stated above, there are no allegations showing

why the Solutia Defendants are somehow liable, and certainly not enough

specificity to satisfy the Twombly standard" In any event, even assuming plaintiffs

have met their pleading threshold, Count One must be dismissed as a matter of law

regardless of whether it is asserted under ERISA § 502(a)(I)(B) or § 502(a)(3).,

1. Count One Fails Because Plaintiffs Did Not Obtain The Required
Ten Years Of Vesting Service Under The Terms Of The Monsanto
Plan Regardless Of Whether It Is Brought Under ERISA §§
502(a)(l)(B) 01' 502(a)(3).

In their Dismissal Memorandum (Doc" 83, pp" 14-19), the Monsanto

Defendants demonstrate why plaintiffs fail to state a claim for benefits under

ERISA § 502(a)(l)(B) regardless of whether the terms of Monsanto's 1976 or

1981 Plan are applied because the plaintiffs never obtained ten years of "Vesting

Service" while employed by Monsanto" Those well-supported arguments do not

need to be repeated here but are simply incorporated herein by reference,

Although plaintiffs also seek relief in Count One under ERISA § 502(a)(3),

they simply seek a declaration that they are entitled to future benefits and/or

benefits under "the Plan,," (SAC, ~ 125)., Such a declaration is thus necessarily

also dependent on plaintiffs accruing more than ten years of "Vesting Service,"

12
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which, as shown by Monsanto, they did not do. Accordingly, Monsanto's

arguments similarly foreclose reliefunder ERISA § 502(a)(3}. For those reasons,

Count One of the Second Amended Complaint should be dismissed in its entirety.

2. ERISA § 502(a)(l)(B) Cannot Be Used To Invalidate Plan
Amendments.

Even assuming Count One (to the extent it is based on ERISA §

502(a)(1)(B)), did not fail for the foregoing reasons, it should be dismissed because

ERISA § 502(a)(l)(B) is not a proper method for attacking plan amendments .. For

instance, in Million v. Central States Pension Fund Trs., 50 Fed.. Appx .. 196 (6th

Cir.. 2002), the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals held that, where a plaintiff sought

benefits based on a plan amendment that, inter alia, created a new class of

beneficiaries with higher benefit levels that excluded him, the suit could not be

brought under ERISA § 502(a)(l)(B), but only as a breach of fiduciary duty claim

insofar as it challenged the amendment itself (which the Court found was time-

barred). Id. at 199; see also Ross v. Rail Car Am. Group Disability Income Plan,

285 FJd 735, 739-40 (8th Cir 2002) (where a participant sought to have a plan

amendment voided in order to recover lost benefits, his claim was properly one for

plan reformation and, as such, was not cognizable under ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B)}

In this action, plaintiffs' effort to recover pension benefits in Count One is

dependent on a Court invalidating the 1981 amendment to the Monsanto Plan

which established the 95-hour rule under which plaintiffs do not meet the years of

13
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service vesting requirement Thus, while plaintifIs' ultimate goal is to obtain

pension benefits, plaintiffs are not seeking benefits under the controlling terms of

the Monsanto Plan (which is required to state a claim under ERISA

§ 502(a)(l)(B)), but are seeking to reform it Consequently, ERISA Section

502(a)(1)(B) cannot support such a claim.

3. Plaintiffs Fail To State A Claim Under ERISA § 502(a)(3)
For Benefits Because Payment Of Benefits Is Not
"Appropriate Equitable Relief' Under ERISA § 502(a)(3).

The Solutia Defendants adopt and incorporate herein by reference the well-

reasoned arguments made by the Monsanto Defendants in their Dismissal

Memorandum (Doc.. 83, pp .. 19-21) as to why Count I additionally fails to state a

claim to the extent it is asserted under ERISA § 502(a)(3}. In short, in Count One,

plaintiffS plead in the alternative that they are entitled to relief under § 502(a)(3),

which provides that a participant may sue to enjoin violations of ERISA or for

"other appropriate equitable relief" 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3}. As for supposed

"equitable relief~" plaintiffs plead that they are "entitled to a declaration that they

are entitled to future benefits and/or benefits under the Plan" (SAC, ~ l25) That

specific relief, however, is nothing more than a request for an award of benefits

and is thus barred by controlling Supreme Court authority which directs that an

award of benefits is impermissible under ERISA §502(a)(3}. See Great-West

Life & Annuity Ins. Co. v. Knudson, 534 U.S. 204, 209-220 (2002). Demands for

14
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a "declaration" or "determination" of entitlement to benefits are nothing more than

demands for benefits and are just the sort of window dressing that courts have

rejected.. See,~, Great-West Life & Annuity Ins. Co., 534 US. at 210 ("Almost

invariably..... suits seeking (whether by judgment, injunction, or declaration) to

compel the defendant to pay a sum of money to the plaintiff are suits for 'money

damages' And money damages are, of course, the classic form of legal

relief."). Accordingly, Count One, to the extent it seeks a declaration of

entitlement to future benefits and/or benefits under ERISA § 502(a)(3), should be

dismissed for failure to state a claim.

Further, plaintiffs' claim in Count One (brought pursuant to ERISA

§ 502(a)(3)) also must be dismissed because, as pleaded, plaintiffs seek the precise

same relief as they seek in Count One based on ERISA § 502(a)(l)(B), which

forecloses relief under ERISA § 502(a)(3) as a matter of law. (SAC, 1 125 (not

differentiating the relief sought)); see Ogden v. Blue Bell Creameries U.S.A., Inc.,

348 FJd 1284, 1287-88 (lIth Cir 2003) (an "ERISA plaintiff who has an

adequate remedy under Section 502(a)(1)(B) cannot alternatively plead and

proceed under Section 502(a)(3}."); Katz v. Comprehensive Plan of Group Ins.,

197 FJd 1084, 1088-89 (lIth Cit 1999). Further, although plaintiffs' claim in

Count One brought pursuant to ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B) also fails as a matter onaw

for the reasons discussed above, the lack of availability of relief under Section

15
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502(a)(3) was in no way dependent on the success or failure of the Section

502(a)(I)(B) claim. See Katz, 197 PJd at 1089 ("the availability of an adequate

remedy under the law, " "does not mean, nor does it guarantee, an adjudication in

one's favor,,"); see also Ogden, 348 PJd at 1288; Hembree ex reI. Hembree v.

Provident Life and Accident Ins. Co., 127 P, Supp" 2d 1265, 1273-74 (ND. Ga

2000) (holding that a plaintiff could not assert a Section 502(a)(3) claim when the

contractual statute oflimitations barred his Section 502(a)(l) claim),

E. Count Two Is Fatally Deficient For A Variety Of Reasons.

ERISA § 510,29 USC § 1140, makes it unlawful to "discharge, fine,

suspend, expel, discipline, or discriminate against a participant or beneficiary for

exercising any right to which he is entitled under the provisions of an employee

benefit plan, '" or for the purpose of interfering with the attainment of any right to

which such participant may become entitled under the plan" ,," 29 USC

§ 1140, Plaintiff invokes this section of ERISA in Count II and alleges that

defendants interfered with plaintiffs' pension rights by amending the Plan to

exclude overtime and closing the Sand Mountain plant (SAC ,-r 127), This claim

should be dismissed for at least four reasons"

1. Count Two Under ERISA &510 Is Barred By The Statute Of
Limitations.

As an initial matter, as shown by the Monsanto Defendants III their

Dismissal Memorandum (Doc" 83, pp" 21-22), which argument is incorporated

16
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herein by reference, Count Two is barred by the applicable two-year statute of

limitations. See Musick v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 81 FJd 136, 139 (11th

Cir 1996).. The plant was closed in 1981 (SAC ~ 59), and plaintiffs assert that the

Plan was amended to include the 95-hour rule in 1981 (SAC ~ 68). Thus, whether

measured from the plant closing or the amendment of the plan, the time for filing

Count Two based on those events expired twenty or more years before the filing of

this case ..

2. PlaintifIs Cannot Assert A Claim Against The Solutia
Defendants Under § 510 Based On The Plant Closing
Because The Solutia Defendants Were Not Plaintiffs'
Employer And There Is No Allegation That the Solutia
Defendants Assumed Any EmpJorment Obligations
Relating To Plant Closings.

The § 510 claim based on the plant closing fails for additional reasons as

related to the Solutia Defendants ERISA § 510 protects only "the employment

relationship which gives rise to an individual's pension rights .." Deeming v.

American Standard, Inc., 905 F.2d 1124, 1127 (7th Cir 1990); (emphasis in

original); see also Daughtrey v. Honeywell, Inc., 3 FJd 1488, 1491 (11th Cir..

1993) (under ERISA § 510 "[a] plaintiff must show that the employer had the

specific intent to interfere with the employee's right to benefits .. ").. Thus, a

"fundamental prerequisite to a § 510 action is an allegation that the employer-

employee relationship, and not merely the pension plan, was changed in some

discriminatory or wrongful way." Deeming, 905 F.2d at 1127; see also Tookes v.
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Metro Life Ins. Co., 2006 U.S., Dist LEXIS 19416 at *31 (N.D, Ga. Mar. 31,

2006), However, as confirmed by the Second Amended Complaint, the Solutia

Defendants never employed plaintifIs or otherwise committed the acts prohibited

by ERISA § 510 (SAC, ~~ l8-29). Indeed, plaintiffs were laid ofI~ and their plant

was closed by Monsanto 15 years before Solutia ever existed (SAC, ~~ 7, 59-6l).

Further, there is no allegation that the Solutia Defendants were involved in the

change of plaintiffs' and Monsanto's employer-employee relationship that

interfered with, or discriminated against, the attainment of plaintiffs alleged

pension rights.. Thus, there is no plausible scenario under which the Solutia

Defendants could have "discharge[d], fine[d], suspend[ed], expel[led],

discipline[d], or discriminate[d]" against plaintiffs, and their ERISA § 510 claim

based on the plant closure must necessarily faiL See DeGrave v. National

Automatic Merch. Ass'n Pension Plan, 392 F., Supp, 2d 1032, 1035 (ND IlL

2005) (plaintiff must show that the defendant was involved in the challenged

change to the employee/employer relationship),

Moreover, plaintiffs have not pleaded that the Solutia Defendants somehow

assumed Monsanto's liability for employment actions affecting plaintiffs (like

closing a plant) and any claim against the Solutia Defendants under ERISA § 510
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is thus speculative, which is insufficient under Twombly3 As such, Count Two

should be dismissed as a matter oflaw.

3. Plaintiffs Also Cannot Recover Under § 510 Based On The
Amendment Of The Plan As Alleged in Count Two.

As shown by the Monsanto Defendants in their Dismissal Memorandum

(Doc. 83, p.. 22), which argument is incorporated herein by reference, the § 510

allegation regarding amendment of the Plan also fails because amendment of the

Plan is not directed at the employer-employee relationship and, therefore, cannot

form the basis for a section 510 claim. It is indeed well-settled that ERISA § 510

claims cannot be based on plan amendments unaccompanied by any interference

with the plaintiffs' employment beyond a loss of benefits.. See Rogers v. Int'l

Marine Terminals, Inc., 87 FJd 755, 761 (5th CiT. 1996) (no § 510 violation

because employer has right to amend plan freely); Herman v. Central States

Pension Fund, 2003 U.S .. Dist LEXIS 9449 at *13 (ND.. IlL Jun. 6, 2003)

(dismissing § 510 claim against a plan and trustees concerning an amendment to a

suspension of benefit rule because § 510 only regulates conduct impacting the

3 Additionally, the Second Amended Complaint does not contain any allegation that the
plant was closed with the specific intent of interfering with plaintiHs' employee benefits .. Such a
basic fact is required under Twombly. See Daughtrey v. Honeywell, Inc., 3 F 3d 1488, 1491
(11th Cir 1993) (ERlSA § 510 claim failed where there was no evidence that a closure of a
facility and the resulting layoff were specifically intended to deprive the plaintiffs of employee
benefits); Unida v. Levi Strauss & Co., 986 F.2d 970, 979-80 (5th Cir 1993) (fact that employer
closed plant to cut costs does not support inference of specific intent to interfere with benefits).
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employment relationship, not the terms of the plan or its administration} Thus,

Count II is subject to dismissal on this basis as welL

4. The Solutia Inc. Employees' Plan Is Not A Proper
Defendant Under ERISA § 510.

The Solutia Inc. Employees' Plan should also be dismissed from Count

Two, because pension plans are not proper defendants in Section 510 claims.. See

Degrave, 392 F. Supp.. 2d at 1035 (holding that the employer, rather than the plan,

was the proper defendant in a suit under § 510 because § 510 was supposed to

protect the employment relationship).

F. Count Three Fails To State A Claim For Breach Of Fiduciary Duty.

Plaintiffs allege in Count Three that, pursuant to ERISA § 502(a)(2) and §

502(a)(3), they are entitled to "all appropriate equitable relief' for defendants'

alleged breach of fiduciary duty under ERISA § 4044 Count III is insufficient in

several respects ..

1. Count Three Is Time-Barred.

Count Three is barred by the relevant statute of limitations.. The events

about which plaintiffs complain took place more than twenty years ago - well

4 As an initial matter, plaintiffs cannot assert breach of fiduciary duty claims for
individual relief under ERISA § 502(a)(2) Under ERISA § 502(a)(2), relief under Section 409
may inure only to the plan as a whole and not to particular participants .. Mass. Mut. Life Ins. Co.
v. Russell, 473 US. 134,140-42 (1985); Matassarin v. Lynffi, 174 F.3d 549, 566 (5th Cir. 1999)
(section 409 of ERISA limits claims to those that inure to the benefit ofthe entire plan, and not
to individual beneficiaries).
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beyond the generous, applicable six-year limitation period for breach of fiduciary

duty claims found in 29 US.G. § 1113 5

2. Count Three Fails To The Extent The Relief Sought
Mirrors The Relief Sought In Count I Pursuant to ERISA §
502(a)(l)(B).

As part of Count Three, plaintiffs base their claim on ERISA § 502(a)(3}.

However, a claim cannot be asserted pursuant to ERISA § 502(a)(3) where a

participant asserts a cause of action seeking the same relief under ERISA §

502(a)(I)(B}. See Ogden v. Blue Bell Creameries U.S.A., Inc., 348 FJd 1284,

1287-88 (11th Cir.. 2003) ("ERISA plaintiff who has an adequate remedy under

Section 502(a)(l )(B) cannot alternatively plead and proceed under Section

502(a)(3}."); Katz v. Comprehensive Plan of Group Ins., 197 FJd 1084, 1088-89

(l1th Cir. 1999); Harrison v. Digital Health Plan, 183 FJd 1235, 1237 n .. I (l1th

Cir 1999) (breach of fiduciary duty claim properly dismissed as "duplicative of

claim under 502(a)(I)(B)").

In Count Three, other than seeking removal of a fiduciary, the relief

plaintiffs seek ("all appropriate equitable relief') mirrors the relief sought in Count

5 In cases of fiaud or concealment, 29 U.S.C § 1113 provides that an action for breach
of fiduciary duty must be brought within six years of the date of discovery of the breach.
However, to benefit from that limitation period, the fraudulent concealment must be pleaded
with particularity pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b), including the who, what,
when and where of the alleged concealment, which plaintiffs have not done See Caputo v.
Pfizer, Inc., 267 F 3d 181, 191 (2d Cir 2001) ("a plaintiff should specify the time, place,
speaker, and content of the alleged misrepresentations"); Midgley v. Rayrock Mines, Inc., 374 F
Supp 2d 1039, 1047 (D NM 2005).
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One pursuant to ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B) ("all appropriate equitable relief'). Indeed,

the Second Amended Complaint contains only one "Prayer for Relief' section

which is supposedly applicable to all claims .. As such, Count Three (and any other

court), to the extent premised on ERISA § 502(a)(3), must be dismissed..

3. The Alleged Acts Of Amending The Plan Are Also Not
Subject To Fiduciary Duties Under ERISA.

As demonstrated in the Monsanto Defendants' Dismissal Memorandum

(Doc .. 83, pp .. 23-24), the act of amending a pension plan does not constitute the

exercise of a fiduciary function. The Solutia Defendants adopt and incorporate

herein that argument, which bars a breach of fiduciary duty claim based on such

amendment as a matter of law. In addition, there is absolutely no allegation that

Solutia, which did not even exist in 1981 at the time of the amendment, amended

the Monsanto Plan or could somehow be liable for Monsanto's actions in doing so ..

G. Count Four Fails To State A Claim For Wrongful Reduction Of
Accrued Service Because ERISA § 204(g) Does Not Apply To The
Vesting Of Benefits.

The Monsanto Defendants correctly note in their Dismissal Memorandum

(Doc. 83, pp.. 24-25), that the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals' decision in

Gilley forecloses this claim as a matter of law. That argument is incorporated

herein by reference. As shown, because plaintiffs' allegations relate to their

purported entitlement to a pension, rather than the amount of an already-vested
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benefit, Section 204(g) relating to accruals is inapplicable and cannot support a

claim under ERISA for plaintiffs.

H. Count Five Fails To Allege The Required Elements Of An Estoppel
Claim For Benefits.

The Solutia Defendants also adopt and incorporate herein the Monsanto

Defendants' arguments demonstrating the fallacy of plaintiffs' estoppel claim

(Doc .. 83, pp .. 25-26). As shown, the Second Amended Complaint does not contain

the requisite elements of an equitable estoppel claim under controlling Eleventh

Circuit precedent and should be dismissed as a matter of law.

I. All Parties Other Than The Monsanto Committee Are Improper Parties
And Should Be Dismissed For This Additional Reason.

"The proper patty defendant in an action concerning ERISA benefits is the

party that controls administration ofthe plan.. " Garren v. John Hancock Mut. Life

Ins. Co., 114 F..3d 186, 187 (lIth Cir.. 1997). The Plan names the defendant

Monsanto Committee as the plan administrator (Doc .. 83, Apdx.. A thereto, § 12).

Plaintiff has not alleged that the Solutia Defendants ever controlled the

administration of the plan and, thus, they are not proper patties and the claims

against them must be dismissed..

IV. CONCLUSION

All of the claims of the plaintiffs as alleged against the Solutia Defendants

should be dismissed for failure to exhaust administrative remedies.. In addition,

each count, as to all defendants, suffers from additional flaws requiring dismissaL
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For the above reasons, the Second Amended Complaint should be dismissed as a

matter of law in its entirety,

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ David W Gearhart
Robert 1 Golterman (Admitted Pro Hac Vice)
Neal E, Perryman (Admitted Pro Hac Vice)
David W, Gearhart (Admitted Pro Hac Vice)
Lewis, Rice & Fingersh, LC
500 N" Broadway, Suite 2000
St Louis, Missouri 63102
Telephone: (314) 444-7600
Telecopier: (314) 241-6056

and

1 David Moore (asb-8552-r70j)
Walston, Wells & Birchall, LLP
1819 5th Avenue North, Suite 1100
Birmingham, Alabama 35203
Telephone: (205) 244-5200
Telecopier: (205) 244-5400

Attorney for Defendants Solutia Inc"
and the Solutia Inc, Employees' Plan
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